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LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (NRC} rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.

Previous violation(s) closed.

The violations(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified,
non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise
discretion, were satisfied.

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s):

4. During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
' cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in accordance
with 10 CFR 18.11.

(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Statement of Corrective Actions

| hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2,201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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[v| Field Office Inspection 1909 Beltway Drive, St. Louis, MO

|| Temporary Job Site Inspection

PROGRAM SCOPE

The St. Louis pharmacy employed six ANPs, six pharmacy technicians, and 20 drivers/couriers. The pharmacy served
approximately 30-35 customers located in the St. Louis Metropolitan area and distributed approximately 400 doses
daily. The licensee received three Mo099/Tc99m generators each week. Xenon-133 gas vials were received and re-
distributed to their customers, the inner containers were not opened by the pharmacy. The pharmacy processed liquid
1-131 weekly to compound therapy capsules and oral solution. Occasionally, the pharmacy prepared and distributed
Y-90/In-111 (Zevalin} and Sm-153 (Quadramet) dosages. These beta doses were measured, using a correction factor,
in the licensee’s dose calibrator prior to transfer to the customer. The corporate office conducted triennial audits of the
pharmacy (last 3/21/2012, with 0 points).

This inspection consisted of interviews with licensee personnel, a review of selected records, tour of the
radiopharmacy, and independent measurements. During this inspection, the inspector observed early and mid-morning
runs. These observations included dose calibrator QC/QA tests, drawing doses, receiving packages, packaging doses
for shipment, and conducting surveys for compliance with NRC and DOT requirements. The inspector noted that the
pharmacy personnel followed the following radiation safety practices during this inspection:

-All pharmacy personnel wore their assigned dosimetry

-Staff performed personal surveys prior to leaving the restricted area

-Pharmacists wore gloves/protective clothing and used tongs while handing RAM

-No evidence of eating or drinking in the restricted area

The maximum whole body and extremity exposures were reported (in millirem) as follows:

YTD 2012 2011 2010
Whole body 370 841 801
Extremity 14,500 27,030 21,170
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